No. S25G0132

Supreme Court of Georgia

THE MEDICAL CENTER OF CENTRAL GEORGIA, INC., et al.,

Appellants,

v.

NORKESIA TURNER,

Appellee.

On Writ of Certiorari to the Georgia Court of Appeals

BRIEF OF AMICI CURIAE GEORGIA TRIAL LAWYERS ASSOCIATION & AMERICAN ASSOCIATION FOR JUSTICE

N. John Bey BEY & ASSOCIATES, LLC 4200 Northside Pkwy NW Building 9 Atlanta, GA 30327

Rory A. Weeks Andersen Tate & Carr, P.C. 1960 Satellite Blvd., Ste. 4000 Duluth, GA 30097

Jason B. Branch
PHILIPS BRANCH HODGES &
WORSTELL
105 13th Street, Suite B
Columbus, GA 31901
President of the Georgia
Trial Lawyers Association

March 31, 2025

Attorneys for Amici Curiae

TABLE OF CONTENTS

IDENTI	TY	AND INTEREST OF AMICI CURIAE1
INTROI	DU	CTION1
ARGUM	IEN	VT3
I. '	The	Court should affirm the judgment below 3
1	A.	The Court of Appeals properly applied Nestlehutt
]	В.	Severability cannot save § 51-13-1 5
II.	The	e right of trial by jury in Georgia7
1	A.	The right of trial by jury at common law 8
]	В.	The constitutional right of trial by jury in Georgia
		1. Trial by jury in Georgia before the Revolution
		2. Jury trials from 1777 to 1798 15
•	C.	Supreme Court precedent on the right of trial by jury
		1. The meaning of "as heretofore used in this State" in the 1798 Constitution 18
		2. Upholding legislation against constitutional challenge
]	D.	Trial by jury deserves staunch protection 26

CONCLUSION	27
CONCLUSION	27

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Atlanta Oculoplastic Surgery, P.C. v. Nestlehutt, 286 Ga. 731 (2010)passir	n
Bemis v. Armour Packing Co., 105 Ga. 293 (1898)2	3
Benton v. Ga. Marble Co, 258 Ga. 58 (1988)	8
Brown v. Burke, 22 Ga. 574 (1857)2	0
Cawthon v. Douglas County, 248 Ga. 760 (1982)2	3
Costly v. State, 19 Ga. 614 (1856)2	0
Crowell v. Akin, 152 Ga. 126 (1921)2	5
Davis v. Harper, 54 Ga. 180 (1875)2	4
Deal v. Coleman, 294 Ga. 170 (2013)	5
DeLamar v. Dollar, 128 Ga. 57 (1907)	6
Floyd v. Comm'rs of Town of Eatonton, 14 Ga. 354 (1853)	4

Gaston v. Shunk Plow Co., 161 Ga. 287 (1925)
Hargraves v. Lewis, 7 Ga. 110 (1849)
Hearn v. Laird, 103 Ga. 271 (1898)23
Hunt v. Formby's Guardian, 43 Ga. 79 (1871)21
Lamar v. Allen, 108 Ga. 158 (1899)23
Mahan v. Cavender, 77 Ga. 118 (1886)22, 23
McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U.S. 742 (2010)
Med. Ctr. of Cent. Ga., Inc. v. Turner, 372 Ga. App. 644 (2024)
Mounce v. Byars, 11 Ga. 180 (1852)20
Nell v. Snowden, 5 Ga. 1 (1848)
Poullian v. Brown, 80 Ga. 27 (1888)
Rafe v. State, 20 Ga. 60 (1856)

Rouse v. State, 4 Ga. 136 (1848)	9
Schick v. United States, 195 U.S. 65 (1904)	9
SEC v. Jarkesy, 603 U.S. 109 (2024)	26
Taylor v. The Devereux Found., Inc., 316 Ga. 44 (2023)	passim
Tift v. Griffin, 5 Ga. 185 (1848)	2
Timbs v. Indiana, 586 U.S. 146 (2019)	26
Tucker v. Howard L. Carmichael & Sons, Inc., 208 Ga. 201 (1951)	9
White v. Clements, 39 Ga. 232 (1869)	12
Williams v. City Council of Augusta, 4 Ga. 509 (1848)	24
Williams v. Overstreet, 230 Ga. 112 (1973)	23
WWW, Inc. v. Am. Honda Motor Co., 291 Ga. 683 (2012)	5
STATUTES	
2005 Ga. Laws 1	6. 7

Act Amending Judiciary Act of 1789, reprinted in Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 422 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)
Act Amending Judiciary Act of 1789, reprinted in Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 439 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)
An Act for Holding Special or Extraordinary Courts of Common Pleas for the Tryal of Causes Arising Between Merchants Strangers & Mariners (1760), reprinted in 18 The Colonial Records of the State of Georgia: Statutes Enacted by the Royal Legislature of Georgia from Its First Session in 1754 to 1768, at 362 (Allen D. Candler ed., 1910)
An Act for the More Easy and Speedy Recovery of Small Debts and Damages (1760), reprinted in 18 The Colonial Records of the State of Georgia: Statutes Enacted by the Royal Legislature of Georgia from Its First Session in 1754 to 1768, at 372 (Allen D. Candler ed., 1910)
Judiciary Act of 1778, reprinted in Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 219 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)
Judiciary Act of 1789, reprinted in Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 389 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)
Judiciary Act of 1792, reprinted in Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 480 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)

State of Georgia 619 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800)
Magna Carta § 39 (1215), reprinted in Sources of Our Liberties 1 (Richard L. Perry & John C. Cooper eds., 2d impression 1960)
O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1passim
Practice in Reference to Masters and Auditors, 1885 Ga. Laws 98
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Ga. Const. of 1777, art. LXI 11
Ga. Const. of 1777, art. XL
Ga. Const. of 1777, art. XLIV
Ga. Const. of 1777, art. XXXVI
Ga. Const. of 1789, art. IV, § 3
Ga. Const. of 1798, art. IV, § 5
Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 11
Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 23
Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 4
Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 6
Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 8
Ga. Const. of 1865, art. I. § 8

Ga. Const. of 1868, art. V, § 13, ¶ 1
Ga. Const. of 1877, art. VI, § 18
Ga. Const. of 1945, art. VI, § XVI, ¶ I
Ga. Const. of 1977, art. VI, § XV, ¶ 1
Ga. Const. of 1983, art. I, § 1, ¶ XI
OTHER AUTHORITIES
1 Revolutionary Records of Georgia 235 (July 6, 1775) 10
3 William Blackstone, Commentaries
Albert B. Saye, A Constitutional History of Georgia 1732–1968 (rev. ed. 1970) [1948]
Charter of 1732, reprinted in 2 The Federal and State Constitutions, Colonial Charters, and Other Organic Laws of the States, Territories, and Colonies Now or Heretofore Forming the United States of America 765 (Francis Newton Thorpe ed. 1909)
Declaration of Independence (1776)
Joseph R. Lamar, The Bench and Bar of Georgia During the Eighteenth Century (1913)
Resolutions of the Stamp Act Congress (1765), reprinted in Sources of Our Liberties 261 (Richard L. Perry & John C. Cooper eds., 2d impression 1960)
Richard L. Perry, Sources of Our Liberties (Richard L. Perry & John C. Cooper, eds. 2d impression 1960)

Case S25G0132 Filed 04/01/2025 Page 10 of 41

Robert S. Peck, Violating the Inviolate: Caps on Date	mages
and the Right to Trial by Jury,	
31 U. Dayton L. Rev. 307 (2005)	10
Theodore F.T. Plucknett, A Concise History of the C	Common
Law (Liberty Fund ed. 2010) [1956]	9

IDENTITY AND INTEREST OF AMICI CURIAE

The Georgia Trial Lawyers Association is a voluntary organization of about 2,000 trial lawyers throughout Georgia who represent people injured by the wrongdoing of others. GTLA's mission is to protect the constitutional promise of justice for all by guaranteeing the right to trial by jury, preserving an independent judiciary, and providing Georgians access to the courts.

The American Association for Justice is a national, voluntary bar association established in 1946 to strengthen the civil justice system, preserve the right to trial by jury, and protect access to the courts for those who have been wrongfully injured. With members in the United States, Canada, and abroad, AAJ is the world's largest plaintiffs trial bar. AAJ members primarily represent plaintiffs in personal injury actions, employment rights cases, consumer cases, and other civil actions, including in Georgia. Throughout its 78-year history, AAJ has served as a leading advocate for the right of all Americans to seek legal recourse for wrongful conduct.

INTRODUCTION

GTLA and AAJ concur with Appellee Norkesia Turner: the noneconomic-damages caps in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 are unconstitutional—as this Court held in *Atlanta Oculoplastic Surgery, P.C. v. Nestlehutt,* 286 Ga. 731, 733-37 (2010). That holding bound the Court of Appeals below and should remain unmolested by this Court.

All parties in a tort action have a constitutional right for a jury to decide questions about noneconomic damages, including those for wrongful death. Protecting the jury-trial right isn't pro-plaintiff or anti-defendant. Here, GTLA and AAJ support Turner because selectively applying the none-conomic-damages caps in § 51-13-1 to medical-malpractice actions where the patient's harm is death violates the constitutional jury-trial right.

MCCG¹ and their amici disagree. That disagreement rests on posture not principle.² Turner's lawsuit sought damages against MCCG and thus put MCCG's "property" at risk—even though some of Turner's claims were for wrongful-death damages. MCCG thus has a constitutional right to a jury's determination of the damages amount. Do MCCG and their amici believe that they can be deprived of their property without a jury trial because the relief sought is wrongful-death damages? Do MCCG and their amici believe that the General Assembly could pass a law requiring damages of at least \$10 million in medical-malpractice cases where the harm is death—even if the jury returned a smaller verdict? Doubtful. But if so, they're wrong.

In Georgia, having a jury determine noneconomic damages, including those for wrongful death, is not a matter of legislative grace. It is a constitutional right that predates the State's formation.³

¹ For simplicity, Appellants are referred to collectively as MCCG.

² The jury-trial right is symmetrical. If it applies to plaintiffs in cases like these, then it applies to defendants. If it doesn't apply to plaintiffs (as MCCG and their amici claim), then it doesn't apply to defendants.

³ "The right, then, of the people of this province was, that their lives, liberty, and property should not be forfeited, but by the judgment of their peers, that is, by a trial by jury." *Tift v. Griffin*, 5 Ga. 185, 189 (1848).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Court should affirm the judgment below.
 - A. The Court of Appeals properly applied *Nestlehutt*.

In granting MCCG's petition for certiorari, the Court set out to decide a narrow question:

In the decision below, did the Court of Appeals properly apply our precedent as set out in *Atlanta Oculoplastic Surgery*, *P.C. v. Nestlehutt*, 286 Ga. 731 (2010)? See Taylor v. The Devereux Foundation, Inc., 316 Ga. 44 (2023).⁴

The answer is yes.

The Court of Appeals was correct: MCCG's claim that the "noneconomic damages" caps in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 apply to the wrongful-death damages awarded in medical-malpractice actions "is foreclosed by binding Supreme Court of Georgia precedent." That precedent is *Nestlehutt*. There, this Court held in the opening paragraph that "the noneconomic damages caps in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 violate the constitutional right to trial by jury." Then after analyzing "the trial court's holding that the noneconomic damages cap violates our state Constitution's guarantee of the right to trial by jury," the Court reiterated its holding that "the noneconomic damages caps in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 violate the right to a

⁴ Jan. 14, 2025 Order at 1 (cites modified). The Court also instructed the parties that "[b]riefs should be submitted only on this point," citing Supreme Court Rule 45. *Id*.

⁵ Med. Ctr. of Cent. Ga., Inc. v. Turner, 372 Ga. App. 644, 652 (2024).

^{6 286} Ga. at 731.

jury trial as guaranteed under the Georgia Constitution."7

Two more important details about *Nestlehutt*. *One*. The first footnote, appended to the opening paragraph, explains that the Court "express[es] no opinion as to subsection (f) of O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1." *Two*. The Court emphasized that the statutory caps for noneconomic damages applied not only "in a medical malpractice action" against "health care providers" (a defined term⁹)—the type of action the Nestlehutts brought—but also "in a medical malpractice action" against "a single medical facility," "more than one medical facility," and "multiple health care providers and medical facilities." ¹⁰

Together, these details reveal *Nestlehutt*'s breadth. Had the Nestlehutts brought an "as applied" challenge, the Court would have had no reason to discuss the caps in subsections (c), (d), and (e), for the Nestlehutts' action fell solely within subsection (b). The Court discussed the caps in subsections (c)–(e) because it intended its holding that "the noneconomic damages caps in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 violate the right to a jury trial" to apply to all statutory caps. ¹¹ Because subsection (f) isn't about caps, the Court added footnote 1 to clarify that its holding didn't reach that subsection. ¹²

Nestlehutt's "two unqualified statements that all of the

⁷ Id. at 732, 738.

⁸ Id. at 731 n.1.

⁹ § 51-13-1 (a)(2).

¹⁰ Nestlehutt, 286 Ga. at 732 (describing § 51-13-1(c), (d) & (e)).

¹¹ See id. at 738.

¹² Subsection (a) contains definitions for that Code section only. Subsection (f) contains no defined terms. So while not unconstitutional, subsection (a) is immaterial.

caps on damages in O.C.G.A. § 51-13-1 are unconstitutional" did not escape the Court of Appeals. ¹³ Nor did the holding's import for "Turner's wrongful-death claim" that "unquestionably involves medical malpractice": "the statutory cap on damages as to that claim violates her *inviolate* right to a jury trial under the Georgia Constitution." ¹⁴ Because the Court of Appeals faithfully applied *Nestlehutt*, its judgment should be affirmed. ¹⁵

B. Severability cannot save § 51-13-1.

Turner ably explains why severability cannot save § 51-13-1. ¹⁶ GTLA and AAJ join those arguments. Here, we offer another reason severability cannot save MCCG from *Nestlehutt*'s holding—even under their impoverished view of that holding. ¹⁷

When construing legislation, this Court "presume[s] the General Assembly meant what it said and said what it meant." The 2005 Act creating § 51-13-1 contains a severability section:

In the event any section, subsection, sentence,

¹³ *Turner*, 372 Ga. App. at 655 n.47.

¹⁴ *Id*. at 655.

¹⁵ Should the Court conclude that statements in the Court of Appeals' *opinion* are inaccurate, that conclusion does not prevent the Court from affirming the Court of Appeals' *judgment*. See WWW, Inc. v. Am. Honda Motor Co., 291 Ga. 683, 683 (2012) ("[W]hile we disagree with the rationale of the majority opinion below, it reached the right result, and we therefore affirm the Court of Appeals' judgment.").

¹⁶ Turner Br. at 18-23.

¹⁷ See MCCG's Br. at 26-32.

¹⁸ Deal v. Coleman, 294 Ga. 170, 172 (2013) (citation omitted).

clause, or phrase of this Act shall be declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no manner affect *the other* sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, or phrases of this Act, which shall remain of full force and effect as if the section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase so declared or adjudged invalid or unconstitutional were not originally a part hereof. ¹⁹

Applying the severance section's plain meaning to Section 13 of the Act (while assuming the Nestlehutts brought only an as-applied challenge to § 51-13-1(b)), the remaining subsection language would be nonsensical, comprising only the clause "including an action for wrongful death."

(b) In any verdict returned or judgment entered in a medical malpractice action, including an action for wrongful death, against one or more health care providers, the total amount recoverable by a claimant for noneconomic damages in such action shall be limited to an amount not to exceed \$350,000.00, regardless of the number of defendant health care providers against whom the claim is asserted or the number of separate causes of action on which the claim is based.

After all, MCCG claims that wrongful death is a distinct cause of action. ²⁰ By that logic, "medical malpractice action" cannot refer to cases involving wrongful death. In any event, the "sentence" or "clause" *Nestlehutt* declared unconstitutional was all of § 51-13-1(b) except for the "clause or phrase" "including an action for wrongful death." For while the severance section purports to save "*the other*" parts of the

¹⁹ 2005 Ga. Laws 1, 17, § 14 (emphasis added).

²⁰ MCCG's Br. at 32-35.

Act,²¹ its plain language preserves none of the unconstitutional part. This is another reason any severance proposal cannot save the caps in § 51-13-1.

* * *

GTLA and AAJ champion a robust right to trial by jury. Affirming the Court of Appeals' judgment, which faithfully applies *Nestlehutt*, will neither enlarge nor shrink the right to trial by jury in the Georgia Constitution. Affirming preserves the status quo and leaves for another day thorny questions of constitutional construction and stare decisis. Affirming is an exercise of judicial restraint.

Even so, MCCG and their amici encourage this Court to consider a wholesale revision of Georgia law on the right to trial by jury, including overruling *Nestlehutt*. Doing so here—where neither the Court of Appeals nor the trial court decided these issues—is unnecessary.

But should the Court consider taking up MCCG and their amici's revision request, GTLA and AAJ offer this overview of both history and precedent to help guide the Court's analysis.

II. The right of trial by jury in Georgia.

The current Georgia Constitution provides that "[t]he right to trial by jury shall remain inviolate." In *Nestlehutt*, this Court held that this provision "guarantees the right to a jury trial only with respect to cases as to which there existed a right to jury trial at common law or by statute at the

²¹ 2005 Ga. Laws at 17, § 14 (emphasis added).

²² Ga. Const. of 1983, art. I, § 1, ¶ XI.

time of the adoption of the Georgia Constitution in 1798."²³ More recently, in *Taylor*, the Court said that "the Georgia constitutional provision on jury trials 'froze' the scope of the inviolate right to a jury trial as it existed in 1798."²⁴

Should the Court decide to reconsider these decisions, then the Court must grapple with the scope of jury trials *in Georgia* not only before 1798 (the date given in *Nestlehutt* and other cases) but also after the Civil War and into the 20th century. This record shows, contrary to what *Taylor* and other cases say, that the right of trial by jury was never intended to be "frozen" to a specific date.

A. The right of trial by jury at common law.

The *Magna Carta* guaranteed the right of trial by jury in 1215.²⁵ In the last eight centuries, no section of the *Magna Carta* "has been cited more often as a guarantee of the liberties of the citizen." ²⁶ Judgment by one's peers—the *Magna Carta*'s phrasing of trial by jury—is "one of the oldest principles of English law." ²⁷

William Blackstone was the most accepted authority on

²³ Nestlehutt, 286 Ga. at 733 (quoting Benton v. Ga. Marble Co, 258 Ga. 58, 66 (1988)).

²⁴ Taylor, 316 Ga. at 58. Taylor didn't hold that 1798 was the "key date," 316 Ga. 57 n.19, but Taylor did emphasize the supposed "almost 175 years" of Court decisions linking the scope of the jury-trial right to before 1798, id. at 56.

²⁵ Magna Carta § 39 (1215), reprinted in Sources of Our Liberties 1, 17 (Richard L. Perry & John C. Cooper eds., 2d impression 1960).

²⁶ Richard L. Perry, Sources of Our Liberties, *supra* note 25, at 5.

²⁷ *Id.* at 7.

English common law in Colonial America.²⁸ His *Commentaries*, this Court has said, "constituted the law of this State, before and since the Revolution."²⁹ Blackstone revered the English jury system. He declared the ancient right of "trial by jury" the "glory of the English law" and "the most transcendental privilege which any subject can enjoy" because no subject can "be affected in his property, his liberty, or his person, but by the unanimous consent of twelve of his neighbors and equals."³⁰ Blackstone hailed jury trials as the "principal bulwark of our liberties" and exclaimed that trial by jury "was always so highly esteemed and valued by the people, that no conquest, no change of government, could ever prevail to abolish it."³¹

While the jury-trial right sprang from the *Magna Carta*, this right expanded over the common-law period to embrace new causes of action—both criminal and civil.³² Trial by jury was so important to Colonial Americans that they not only claimed it as their right but also cited its circumvention as a

²⁸ See Schick v. United States, 195 U.S. 65, 69 (1904).

²⁹ Rouse v. State, 4 Ga. 136, 145 (1848); see also Tucker v. Howard L. Carmichael & Sons, Inc., 208 Ga. 201, 203 (1951) ("This [C]ourt regards Blackstone as an authority on the common law.").

³⁰ 3 William Blackstone, Commentaries *379.

³¹ *Id.* *350.

³² See Theodore F.T. Plucknett, A Concise History of the Common Law 130-31 (Liberty Fund ed. 2010) [1956] ("[J]ury trial almost immediately became normal in trespass, both for the trial of misdemeanours and of torts. In the end, trespass and its derivatives supplanted the old real actions (and also the old personal actions of debt, detinue, etc.) with the result that all the civil trial juries now in use descend directly from the jury in trespass, as likewise the juries for the trial of misdemeanours.").

reason to sever ties with England.³³

Georgia also specifically cited England's attempt to deprive Georgians of the right to trial by jury as a reason for austere trade regulations.³⁴ The point cannot be oversold: Georgia, like her sister colonies, took offense to England's attempt to place enforcement of a *new statute* of the *type* traditionally enforced in courts requiring juries in another court where juries were not used. In other words, Georgians expected the jury-trial right to apply to new statutory claims.

B. The constitutional right of trial by jury in Georgia.

Georgia enacted its first constitution in 1777.³⁵ That Constitution established one court in each county called the "superior court," also called the "supreme court," which sat twice a year (in March and October). All causes, of what

³³ Declaration of Independence ¶ 20 (1776). The Declaration of Independence referred to the 1765 Stamp Act. The Stamp Act not only taxed all sorts of documents needed for colonial life but also granted admiralty courts—where there was no right of trial by jury—jurisdiction to enforce the Act. That jurisdictional rejiggering was intentional, for "the British assumed juries would be sympathetic to the American plight" caused by the Stamp Act. Robert S. Peck, *Violating the Inviolate: Caps on Damages and the Right to Trial by Jury*, 31 U. Dayton L. Rev. 307, 316 (2005). In response, the American colonies convened the Stamp Act Congress to "protest" the removal of the "trial by jury," which they described as "the inherent and invaluable right of every British subject in these colonies." Resolutions of the Stamp Act Congress ¶ 7 (1765), reprinted in Sources of Our Liberties, supra note 25, at 261, 270.

³⁴ See 1 Revolutionary Records of Georgia 235, 239 (July 6, 1775).

³⁵ 2 Federal and State Constitutions 777 n.a.

³⁶ Ga. Const. of 1777, art. XXXVI.

³⁷ *Id.* art. XL.

³⁸ Id. art. XXXVI.

nature soever, shall be tried in the supreme court," other than those "hereafter mentioned." There were two exceptions. The first was for "[c]aptures, both by sea and land," and "maritime causes." The second was for "the court of conscience," which had been established by an 1760 act, which would continue "as heretofore practiced" with one caveat: its jurisdiction increased to try cases "not amounting to more than ten pounds." The 1777 Constitution provided that "trial by jury" was to "remain inviolate forever."

Twelve years later, Georgia enacted its second constitution in 1789, extending the prior constitution's guarantee that "trial by jury shall remain inviolate." ⁴⁴

Georgia's third constitution, the Constitution of 1798, guarantees that "trial by jury, as heretofore used in this State, shall remain inviolate." Nothing like the emphasized language appears in any other Constitution. Like the Constitutions of 1777 and 1789, the 1798 Constitution was not enacted by the people of Georgia but by convention. 46

Since 1798, Georgia has had seven constitutions. The turbulent period of 1861 to 1877 saw four. The first two, the Constitutions of 1861 and 1865, do not enshrine the inviolate

³⁹ Id. art. XL (emphasis added).

⁴⁰ Id. art. XLIV.

⁴¹ See infra n.64.

⁴² Ga. Const. of 1777, art. XLVI.

⁴³ *Id.* art. LXI.

⁴⁴ Ga. Const. of 1789, art. IV, § 3.

⁴⁵ Ga. Const. of 1798, art. IV, § 5 (emphasis added).

⁴⁶ 2 Federal and State Constitutions 791 n.a.

right of trial by jury.⁴⁷ This Court has never explained that omission.

Yet the 1861 Constitution's text suggests that this omission was intentional. The first three Georgia Constitutions have *one* jury-trial provision for criminal and civil cases. The 1861 Constitution has zero *civil*-jury provisions but two *criminal*-jury provisions: one appended to the due process clause, and one for public and speedy trial by an impartial jury. ⁴⁸ Curiously, the only individual right in the 1798 Constitution omitted from the 1861 Constitution is the civil-jury right. The 1865 Constitution includes one *criminal*-jury provision for public and speedy trial by an impartial jury. ⁴⁹ But at least one decision of this Court suggests that the 1865 Constitution never went into "practical effect." ⁵⁰

The Constitutions of 1868 and 1877 return the explicit guarantee that the right of trial by jury "shall remain inviolate," but both invoke an important caveat: "except where it is otherwise provided in this Constitution." This pattern of

⁴⁷ Taylor, 316 Ga. at 56 n.18.

⁴⁸ See Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 4 ("No citizen shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property except by due process of law; and of life or liberty only by the judgment of his peers." (emphasis added)); id. art. I, § 11 ("Every person charged with an office against the laws of the State . . .shall have a public and speedy trial by an impartial jury.").

⁴⁹ Ga. Const. of 1865, art. I, § 8.

⁵⁰ White v. Clements, 39 Ga. 232, 248 (1869).

⁵¹ Ga. Const. of 1868, art. V, § 13, ¶ 1 ("The right of trial by jury, except where it is otherwise provided in this constitution, shall remain inviolate."); Ga. Const. of 1877, art. VI, § 18 ("The right of trial by jury, except where it is otherwise provided in this Constitution, shall remain inviolate, but the General Assembly may prescribe any number, not less

explicitly noting that the "inviolate" right of trial by jury "shall remain" except where otherwise provided in the Constitution continued in Constitutions of 1945, 1977, and 1983.⁵² Today, trial by jury remains an "inviolate" right in Georgia—except as modified by the Constitution.⁵³

1. Trial by jury in Georgia before the Revolution.

Georgia, the last of the thirteen colonies, formally began with the Charter of 1732.⁵⁴ The Charter gave certain men, the trustees, control over Georgia for 21 years.⁵⁵ The Charter empowered the trustees to establish courts "for the hearing and determining of all manner of crimes, offences, pleas, processes, plaints, actions, matters, causes and things whatsoever, arising or happening within the said province of Georgia, or between persons of Georgia."⁵⁶ And they did before

than five, to constitute a trial or traverse jury in Courts other than the Superior and City Courts.").

⁵² Ga. Const. of 1945, art. VI, § XVI, ¶ I ("The right of trial by jury, except where it is otherwise provided in this Constitution, shall remain inviolate, but the General Assembly may prescribe any number, not less than five, to constitute a trial, or traverse jury, except in the superior court."); Ga. Const. of 1977, art. VI, § XV, ¶ 1 (same as 1945); Ga. Const. of 1983, art. I, § I, ¶ XI(a) ("The right to trial by jury shall remain inviolate, except that the court shall render judgment without the verdict of a jury in all civil cases where no issuable defense is filed and where a jury is not demanded in writing by either party.").

⁵³ See Nestlehutt, 286 Ga. at 736 (Legislature has authority to modify or abrogate the common law but may not abrogate "constitutional rights that may inhere in common law causes of action.").

⁵⁴ Charter of 1732, reprinted in 2 Federal and State Constitutions 765.

⁵⁵ Albert B. Saye, A Constitutional History of Georgia 1732–1968, at 12-18 (rev. ed. 1970) [1948].

⁵⁶ Charter of 1732, *supra* n.54, at 774.

sailing from England.⁵⁷

The first Georgia court was sworn in on July 7, 1733, in Savannah. Although there was a court, there were no law-yers—either by express law (now lost to history) or practice.⁵⁸ All appearing in court had to plead their own case. And there were plenty of cases—both civil and criminal.⁵⁹

The charter period ended in 1752, and Georgia became a royal colony. Georgia had many courts during the royal-colony period. But most cases were heard in the "Inferior Courts, or Courts of Conscience, held by justices of the peace." These courts had jurisdiction over petty crimes and minor civil disputes. They heard civil disputes valued at fewer than £8 and not involving "Titles of Land." The original 1760 act empowering justices of the peace to hear these cases also required a jury. That same year, the legislature

⁵⁷ Joseph R. Lamar, The Bench and Bar of Georgia During the Eighteenth Century 5 (1913). Born in Ruckersville, Georgia, Joseph Lamar served as an associate justice on both the Georgia Supreme Court (1901–1905) and then the U.S. Supreme Court (1911–1915).

⁵⁸ See *id*. at 7.

⁵⁹ *Id.* at 7.

⁶⁰ See Saye, supra note 55, at 45-49.

⁶¹ See Saye, supra note 55, at 65 (listing "The General Court, The Court of Sessions of Oyer and Terminer and General Gaol Delivery, The Court of Appeals, The Court of Admiralty, and the Court of Ordinary").

 $^{^{62}}$ *Id*.

⁶³ *Id*.

⁶⁴ An Act for the More Easy and Speedy Recovery of Small Debts and Damages (1760), *reprinted in* 18 The Colonial Records of the State of Georgia: Statutes Enacted by the Royal Legislature of Georgia from Its First Session in 1754 to 1768, at 372, 372-73 (Allen D. Candler ed.,

created a special court to decide disputes between merchants and shippers with a "special jury."⁶⁵

Examining Georgia's pre-Revolution history, this Court "found no court in existence prior to the Constitution of 1777, which had common-law jurisdiction in civil cases, in which trial by jury was not provided for." 66 Nor have GTLA and AAJ.

2. Jury trials from 1777 to 1798.

Because some decisions by this Court treat 1798 as a key date, this section discusses jury trials in Georgia between 1777 and 1798.

The Judiciary Act of 1778 established a "superior court" in each county where "all causes of what nature or kind so-ever are to be tried," except as otherwise provided in the Constitution of 1777.⁶⁷ Superior courts had jurisdiction over all actions "for any debt or damages, or any sum of money above ten pounds," and those courts had "to give judgment according to the verdict of the jury." And superior courts had jurisdiction over actions at law and in equity. 69

After the Constitution of 1789, the General Assembly

^{1910) [}hereinafter Colonial Records].

⁶⁵ An Act for Holding Special or Extraordinary Courts of Common Pleas for the Tryal of Causes Arising Between Merchants Strangers & Mariners (1760), *reprinted in* 18 Colonial Records 362.

⁶⁶ DeLamar v. Dollar, 128 Ga. 57, 60-61 (1907).

⁶⁷ Judiciary Act of 1778, *reprinted in* Digest of the Laws of the State of Georgia 219 (Robert & George Watkins ed. 1800) [hereinafter Watkins' Digest].

⁶⁸ *Id.* at 220.

 $^{^{69}}$ *Id*.

gave superior courts the "full power and authority to exercise jurisdiction in and to hear and determine, by a jury of twelve men, all pleas, civil and criminal; and all causes of what nature or kind soever, according to the usage and custom of courts of law and equity (except such as are hereby referred to inferior jurisdictions)."70 Superior courts were authorized "to proceed with a jury on a petition or bill" in civil disputes "for any debt or damages, or any sum of money above ten pounds."71 The General Assembly also created "inferior county courts," staffed by justices of the peace, that had jurisdiction "to hear and determine causes at common law, within their respective counties," except for cases about "the right of title of lands or tenements." 72 Inferior county courts could decide actions for "small debts" ("any debt or liquidated demand due by judgment, specialty, or account" under "five pounds steering") "without the solemnity of a jury"; but any unhappy party could appeal to superior court "for final hearing and determination by jury." 73

In 1790, the General Assembly set out rules for how superior courts were to decide "all cases respecting the discovering transactions between co-partners or co-executors, compelling distribution of intestate estates or payments of legacies, or in any other case whatsoever."⁷⁴ While customarily

⁷⁰ Judiciary Act of 1789, *reprinted in* Watkins' Digest 389, 391 (emphasis added).

⁷¹ *Id*. at 391.

⁷² *Id.* at 396, 397.

⁷³ *Id.* at 401.

⁷⁴ Act Amending Judiciary Act of 1789, reprinted in Watkins' Digest 422, 422.

heard in equity, Georgia superior courts had to submit such suit's merits and supporting evidence "to a special jury." ⁷⁵

In 1791, the General Assembly gave superior courts concurrent jurisdiction with inferior county courts in all cases.⁷⁶ That act requires "[t]hat the trial of all cases of what nature or kind they may be, shall be by jury in the customary and established mode."⁷⁷

In 1792, the General Assembly did not change the established use of jury trials, including use of a 12-person jury to decide all cases.⁷⁸ The General Assembly vested superior courts with all the powers of a court of equity, including the power to compel testimony, but required all proof "be submitted to a special jury, whose verdict shall be final."⁷⁹

In 1797, the General Assembly overhauled the Georgia judiciary's structure yet made no changes to the use of juries. Superior courts continued to have jurisdiction to decide all cases, civil and criminal, "by a jury of twelve men." Superior courts retained original jurisdiction over civil disputes for any debt or damages, or any sum of money," though the threshold was raised to "thirty dollars." Superior courts continued to exercise equitable powers and had to try equity

 $^{^{75}}$ *Id*.

 $^{^{76}}$ Act Amending Judiciary Act of 1789, $reprinted\ in$ Watkins' Digest 439, 440.

⁷⁷ *Id.* at 440.

⁷⁸ Judiciary Act of 1792, reprinted in Watkins' Digest 480, 481.

⁷⁹ *Id*. at 482.

⁸⁰ Judiciary Act of 1797, reprinted in Watkins' Digest 619, 621.

⁸¹ Id. at 621.

cases to a "special jury." ⁸² Justices of the peace could decide "small debts" cases without a jury; but the unhappy party could appeal and try the case to a five-person jury and before a justice of the peace. ⁸³

* * *

This history shows how Georgia used trial by jury before 1798. Both before and after the Revolution, Georgia required jury trials for all civil actions in courts of general jurisdiction—whether the case arose at law or in equity. Before the Revolution, jury trials were required in all "inferior" and "special" courts. After the Revolution, starting in 1789, actions for "small debts" could be decided by justices of the peace without a jury—but either party could appeal that decision and receive a trial by jury.

C. Supreme Court precedent on the right of trial by jury.

1. The meaning of "as heretofore used in this State" in the 1798 Constitution.

In *Taylor*, the Court said that "no reported case expressly focuses on the meaning of this language"—referring to the phrase "as heretofore used in the State" in the 1798 Constitution.⁸⁴ That's incorrect. Several cases do.

Take *Nell v. Snowden*. There, the Court considered whether superior courts could order new trials in equity cases. Getting to yes, the Court noted that the Judiciary Acts of 1792 and 1797 required superior courts to submit equity cases to special juries. The Court held that "the trial by jury

 $^{^{82}}$ *Id*.

⁸³ Id. at 638-39.

^{84 316} Ga. at 57 n.19.

was *used* in Equity causes in this State before and at the time of the adoption of the Constitution." So it was irrelevant that the Judiciary Act of 1799 didn't mention submitting equity cases to special juries because that right "is derived from the Constitution." Because the 1798 Constitution empowered superior courts to grant new trials and the Judiciary Act of 1799 permitted new trials for cases tried to special juries, the Court held that superior courts could order new trials in equity cases. 87

Then there's *Hargraves v. Lewis* (a fractured, bear of an opinion). Again, the Court held that "the Judge had no right to pass the order perpetually enjoining the execution . . . without the intervention of a Jury." That holding rested on the Judiciary Acts of 1792 and 1797, which required "the trial of the merits upon the testimony was to be had by a Jury. And this was the trial by Jury, *heretofore used* in Equity causes, which was adopted by the "1798 Constitution. 89 Even the dissent agreed with this point: "Before, and at the time of the adoption of the Constitution of 1798, trial by Jury in Equity causes was *used in this State*," and thus it was constitutionally guaranteed. 90

Nell and Hargraves establish that the 1798 Constitution preserved Georgia's unique jury practices—not those of

^{85 5} Ga. 1, 4 (1848).

 $^{^{86}}$ *Id*.

⁸⁷ See id.

^{88 7} Ga. 110, 125 (1849).

⁸⁹ Id. at 126.

⁹⁰ Id. at 134 (Warner, J., dissenting).

England—"inviolate." They are not alone. In *Mounce v. Byars*, the Court reiterated that the Georgia-specific jury practices predating 1798 were constitutionally guaranteed. Thus, "[a]ny law . . . passed subsequent to the Constitution, which repealed those Acts, and defeated the usage of trial by Jury, which they prescribed, is void."91

Reading *Nell*, *Hargraves*, and *Mounce* together, it may appear that the phrase "as heretofore used in this State" in the 1798 Constitution enhanced the "inviolate" jury-trial right. But the Court has twice cast doubt on that conclusion. In *Costly v. State*, the Court emphasized that "nothing more is meant" by this language than what prior Constitutions said: "that 'trial by *Jury*,' (as contradistinguished from any other *mode*) 'shall remain inviolate forever." ⁹²

Fifty-one years later, in *DeLamar v. Dollar*, the Court again downplayed the phrase's significance:

The [C]onstitution of 1798 contains the words, "as heretofore used in this State," which do not appear in the other instruments; but this really would not affect the interpretation to be placed upon the declaration that trial by jury shall remain inviolate, for each declaration would mean that it must be preserved in the future in all cases in which it was allowed under valid laws existing at the time that the

⁹¹ 11 Ga. 180, 185-88 (1852); see also Brown v. Burke, 22 Ga. 574, 581 (1857) ("In this State, all Equity causes are tried by a special jury, under the direction of the Court as to the law. The Judge here cannot decide a fact, and cannot now give his opinion to the jury as to the preponderance of the evidence.").

^{92 19} Ga. 614, 629 (1856).

[C]onstitution was adopted.93

Notably, *DeLamar* evaluated the jury-trial right under the then-current 1877 Constitution, ⁹⁴ thereby demonstrating that each new Constitution refreshes the jury-trial right. ⁹⁵

2. Upholding legislation against constitutional challenge.

During the 19th century, the Court upheld legislation restricting trial by jury. One line of cases originates during Reconstruction and concerns the jury-trial right in equity. Recall *Nell*, *Hargraves*, and *Mounce* recognized Georgians' constitutional jury-trial rights in equity under the 1798 Constitution. And the Court continued to do so until 1871. But the Court inexplicably changed course in the 1880s.

In an 1885 Act, the General Assembly defined "the duties of masters in chancery and auditors" at law or in equity. 98 Basically, this Act allowed parties to present their case to a third party (master or auditor) who received evidence and decided the issues. Aggrieved parties could file exceptions. The judge could dismiss meritless expectations and direct a verdict on the report's findings. But the judge had to submit disputed issues to the jury after finding meritorious

⁹³ 128 Ga. 57, 59 (1907) (emphasis added).

⁹⁴ See id. at 65.

⁹⁵ See id. at 59-64.

⁹⁶ See supra nn.85-93 and accompanying text.

⁹⁷ Hunt v. Formby's Guardian, 43 Ga. 79, 84 (1871) (noting that "equity jurisdiction in this State is vested in the Superior Court, and a jury, under our chancery practice, is a part of our equity system").

⁹⁸ Practice in Reference to Masters and Auditors, 1885 Ga. Laws 98.

exceptions, discovering new evidence suggesting error, or identifying improperly received testimony.⁹⁹

The Act's first constitutional challenge was in 1886. After the master of chancery issued a report, the exceptions were overruled, and judgment was entered, the losing party challenged the Act for violating the constitutional jury-trial right. Rejecting the challenge, the Court said—citing no authority—that "[t]he interposition of juries in the trial of chancery cases is purely a matter of legislative regulation," wrongly claiming that such trials originated in the Judiciary Act of 1799. 100 The Court also stated its "opinion that the right of trial by jury, as guaranteed by our [C]onstitution, has reference to the right as embodied in Magna Charta."101 The Court noted that the right to trial by jury in chancery cases has never "existed in England, either before or after Magna Charta, and that it never has and does not now exist in many of our sister states having the same constitutional provision as ours."102 The Court gave no reason for the sudden reversal of *Nell*, *Hargraves*, and *Mounce*.

Two years later, another constitutional challenge arose. This case differed from the first in that it was "a case at law" and an auditor, not a master, issued the report. ¹⁰³ These turned out to be crucial differences. Unlike in equity cases, ¹⁰⁴

⁹⁹ See id.

¹⁰⁰ Mahan v. Cavender, 77 Ga. 118, 121 (1886).

¹⁰¹ *Id.* (emphasis added).

 $^{^{102}}$ *Id*.

¹⁰³ Poullian v. Brown, 80 Ga. 27, 30 (1888).

¹⁰⁴ See id. at 31 (stating without citing any authority that "the right of

the Court held that "in a case at law it is the constitutional right of every citizen to have a trial by jury in a proper case made." ¹⁰⁵ The Court also held that "exceptions of fact are questions for the jury, and have always been in England and in this country; and the legislature has no power to provide otherwise until the [C]onstitution be altered." ¹⁰⁶

After these cases, the Court never again recognized the constitutional right to jury trials in equity guaranteed by the 1798 Constitution. Instead, the Court repeatedly reiterated that there is no jury-trial right in equity ¹⁰⁷—and often inaccurately claimed that jury trials in equity began with the Judiciary Act of 1799, including as recently as *Taylor*. ¹⁰⁸

A second line of 19th century cases concerns "proceedings" that were unknown or tried without a jury in 1798. Williams v. City Council of Augusta is an example of nonjury proceedings before 1798. That case arose when the city council fined a gun-powder retailer for keeping too much gun powder. The gun-powder retailer argued that the fine violated his constitutional jury-trial rights. The Court disagreed. Because the right of municipal corporations to create

trial by jury in equity cases is given by statute, and in such cases is not a constitutional right").

 $^{^{105}}$ *Id*.

 $^{^{106}}$ *Id*.

¹⁰⁷ E.g., Hearn v. Laird, 103 Ga. 271, 276 (1898); Bemis v. Armour Packing Co., 105 Ga. 293, 294 (1898); Lamar v. Allen, 108 Ga. 158, 162 (1899); Gaston v. Shunk Plow Co., 161 Ga. 287, 298 (1925); Cawthon v. Douglas County, 248 Ga. 760, 761-62 (1982).

¹⁰⁸ Williams v. Overstreet, 230 Ga. 112, 115 (1973) (quoting Mahan, 77 Ga. at 121), quoted in Taylor, 316 Ga. at 58.

"by-laws" and enforce them "by *pecuniary penalties, in a summary manner*" existed both in England and in Georgia before the 1798 Constitution, the gun-retailer had no jury-trial right.¹⁰⁹

Another example is *Davis v. Harper*, which involved a claim of settlement against an administrator in a court of ordinary (probate court). While these cases had been heard "for a long while" in a court of equity, the Court confessed that it was "not clear" that a probate court could not have heard these cases (even if no one on the Court could remember it doing so). Regardless, the 1798 Constitution conferred on "the inferior court the powers of a court o[f] ordinary, or register of probates, and it is unquestionable that at common law this officer had the power now in question." Ultimately, the Court concluded that "[i]t does not appear . . . that in 17[98] the right of trial by jury existed in these cases." 113

Sometimes the constitutional challenge raised a procedural issue outside the jury-trial right. In *Rafe v. State*, for example, a convicted murderer challenged the method of summoning and empaneling jurors. Those procedures, the Court held, were not part of the jury-trial right before the

¹⁰⁹ 4 Ga. 509, 516 (1848); see also Floyd v. Comm'rs of Town of Eatonton, 14 Ga. 354 (1853) (same conclusion following Williams).

¹¹⁰ 54 Ga. 180, 180-81 (1875).

¹¹¹ *Id.* at 183.

¹¹² *Id*.

¹¹³ *Id*. The Court also noted that aggrieved parties in the court of ordinary have the right of appeal to superior court where they can get a trial by jury. *See id*.

1798 Constitution.¹¹⁴ Rather, they were legislative creations—both before and after the 1798 Constitution.¹¹⁵

Sometimes the cases concerned "special proceedings not then known or subsequently created or provided by statute," such as "contested election cases, proceedings against road defaulters, partition proceedings, condemnation proceedings, [and] proceedings to validate bonds."¹¹⁶

Yet GTLA and AAJ's research has revealed no *civil* case involving an action at law for damages in which the Court held that the jury-trial right did not apply. Nor has our research revealed any *criminal* case in which the Court held that a defendant did not have the right to trial by jury for a new crime created after 1798. That's significant. Because until the treasonous 1861 Constitution, Georgia had no separate jury-trial provision for criminal cases.

The Court's Antebellum and Reconstruction cases make clear that the relevant question was whether the "case" or "proceeding" was tried to a jury before 1798. Later cases like DeLamar show that the Court considered this question under the most recent Constitution, not the 1798 Constitution. But in either case, the inquiry was about the whole case—not whether specific damages for certain claims were available. The undeniable fact is that all actions at law for damages were tried to a jury in Georgia before 1798 and after—at least until the 1877 Constitution as shown by $DeLamar\ v$.

¹¹⁴ 20 Ga. 60, 66 (1856).

¹¹⁵ *Id*.

¹¹⁶ Crowell v. Akin, 152 Ga. 126, 135 (1921) (citations omitted).

Dollar. 117

D. Trial by jury deserves staunch protection.

Trial by jury is a fundamental, preexisting right. It appears in the first Georgia Constitution. That's more than can be said for other venerated rights, such as the right to keep and bear arms (1861);¹¹⁸ right against unreasonable searches and seizures (1861);¹¹⁹ and freedom of speech (1861).¹²⁰ Trial by jury deserves broad protection—similar to that given by the U.S. Supreme Court to the Seventh Amendment.¹²¹

Yet by treating the jury-trial right as "frozen" in 1798 as some cases do, this Court has relegated trial by jury to a second-class right. 122 And the Court has done so largely without

¹¹⁷ 128 Ga. 88-89 (holding County Court Act of 1879 unconstitutional for depriving parties of jury-trial right in cases of no more than \$50).

¹¹⁸ Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 6.

¹¹⁹ Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 23.

¹²⁰ Ga. Const. of 1861, art. I, § 8.

¹²¹ See SEC v. Jarkesy, 603 U.S. 109, 121-26 (2024). While the Seventh Amendment remains unincorporated against the States, the U.S. Supreme Court's most recent incorporation cases leave little doubt that it should be. "A Bill of Rights protection is incorporated . . . if it is 'fundamental to our scheme of ordered liberty,' or 'deeply rooted in this Nation's history and tradition." Timbs v. Indiana, 586 U.S. 146, 150 (2019) (quoting McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 767 (2010) (cleaned up)).

¹²² Imagine if other venerated rights had to pass through the same kind of "framework" as trial by jury. Consider one: freedom of the press. That right appears in the 1777 Constitution (and 1789 and 1798 Constitutions) in the same provision as the jury-trial right. Does the freedom of the press extend to only those persons considered members of the press in 1777 (or 1789 or 1798)? Does it extend to only those types of publications that existed back then? Of course not.

giving the history of this right *in Georgia* due consideration. Before this Court takes up MCCG and their amici's request to revisit *Nestlehutt* and other precedents, a thorough understanding of the relevant history is needed. This case is a poor vehicle for that project given the narrowness of the Court of Appeals' decision. We thus encourage the Court to decide this case on the narrow grounds required by the question presented. Should the Court decide to take this question up, GTLA and AAJ ask the Court to hold that the jury-trial right applies to all legal actions for damages and that "[t]he very existence of [damages] caps, in any amount, is violative of the right to trial by jury." 123

CONCLUSION

GTLA and AAJ ask that the Court affirm the Court of Appeals' judgment.

This submission does not exceed the word-count limit imposed by Rule 20.

ANDERSEN TATE & CARR, P.C.

/s/ Rory A. Weeks

Rory A. Weeks Georgia Bar No. 113491 ANDERSEN, TATE & CARR, P.C. 1960 Satellite Boulevard Suite 4000 Duluth, GA 30097

¹²³ *Nestlehutt*, 286 Ga. at 736.

(770) 822-0900 rweeks@atclawfirm.com

Jason B. Branch
PHILIPS BRANCH HODGES &
WORSTELL
105 13th Street, Suite B
Columbus, GA 31901
President of the Georgia
Trial Lawyers Association

N. John Bey BEY & ASSOCIATES, LLC 4200 Northside Pkwy NW Building 9 Atlanta, GA 30327

Attorneys for Amici Curiae Georgia Trial Lawyers Association & American Association for Justice

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I served this brief of Amici Curiae Georgia Trial Lawyers Association & American Association for Justice, which was filed electronically using the Court's casemanagement system, via email on the following counsel of record:

R. Page Powell, Jr.

ppowell@huffpowellbailey.com
 Alexander C. Vey
 avey@huffpowellbailey.com
HUFF, POWELL & BAILEY, LLC
999 Peachtree Street, Suite 950
 Atlanta, GA 30309
 (404) 892-4022
 Counsel for Appellants

Katherine L. McArthur
kmcarthur@mcarthurlawfirm.com
Caleb F. Walker
cwalker@mcarthurlawfirm.com
MCARTHUR LAW FIRM
6055 Lakeside Commons Drive, Suite 400
Macon, GA 31210
(478) 238-6600
Counsel for Appellee

Tracey L. Dellacona
tdellacona@dellaconalaw.com
DELLACONA LAW FIRM, LLC
6055 Lakeside Commons Drive, Suite 420
Macon, GA 31210
(478) 477-9000
Counsel for Appellee

Michael B. Terry
terry@bmelaw.com
Naveen Ramachandrappa
ramachandrappa@bmelaw.com
BONDURANT, MIXON & ELMORE LLP
1201 West Peachtree Street, Suite 3900
Atlanta, GA 30309
(404) 881-4100
Counsel for Appellee

Keith R. Blackwell
keith.blackwell@alston.com
Christopher J. Kelleher
chris.kelleher@alston.com
ALSTON & BIRD LLP
One Atlantic Center
1201 West Peachtree Street
Atlanta, GA 30309
(404) 881-7000
Counsel for Amicus Curiae Metro Atlanta
Recovery Residences, Inc.

David E. Nahmias dnahmias@jonesday.com JONES DAY

1221 Peachtree Street, Suite 400 Atlanta, GA 30361 (404) 581-3939

Counsel for Amici Curiae Chamber of Commerce of the United States and Georgia Chamber of Commerce

Jason E. Bring
jason.bring@agg.com
W. Jerad Rissler
jerad.rissler@agg.com
Lisa J. Churvis
lisa.churvis@agg.com

ARNALL GOLDEN GREGORY LLP

171 Seventeenth Street, Suite 2100 Atlanta, GA 30363 (404) 873-8500

Counsel for Amici Curiae Georgia Hospital Association and Medical Association of Georgia

I certify that there is a prior agreement among the parties to allow PDF documents sent via email to suffice for service under Supreme Court Rule 14.

/s/ Rory A. Weeks
Rory A. Weeks
Georgia Bar No. 113491